
Please ask for  Julie Britton DDI (01362) 656343 
email: julie.britton@breckland.gov.uk

Website: www.breckland.gov.uk

AGENDA
Committee - COMMITTEE OF THE LICENSING 

AUTHORITY
Date & Time - WEDNESDAY, 13TH NOVEMBER, 

2019 AT 10AM
Venue - NORFOLK ROOM, THE 

CONFERENCE SUITE, ELIZABETH 
HOUSE, DEREHAM

Members of the Committee requiring further information, or with specific 
questions, are asked to raise these with the appropriate officer at least two 

working days before the meeting.  If the information requested is available, this 
will be provided, and reported to Committee.

Membership

Councillor M. Chapman-Allen (Chairman)
Mr K. Martin (Vice-Chairman)
Mr T. J. Ashby
Mr S Askew
Councillor C. Bowes
Mr R. F. W. Brame
Mr M. P. Brindle
Mr T. R. Carter

Mrs V. Dale
Mrs S. Dowling
Mr R.W. Duffield
Cllr T. Kiddell
Mrs L.H. Monument
Mr P. Morton
Miss T. Taylor

This meeting may be filmed, recorded or photographed by the public; however, anyone who wishes 
to do so must inform the Chairman and ensure it is done in a non-disruptive and public manner. 
Please review the Council’s guidance on filming and recording meetings available in the meeting 
room.
Democratic Services 
Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke,
Dereham Norfolk, NR19 1EE
Date: Monday, 4 November 2019

Public Document Pack

mailto:julie.britton@breckland.gov.uk




Committee of the Licensing Authority
Wednesday, 13th November, 2019

Page(s)
herewith

1. MINUTES 4 - 5
To confirm the Minutes of the meeting held on 27 March 2019.

2. APOLOGIES 
To receive apologies for absence.

3. URGENT BUSINESS 
To note whether the Chairman proposes to accept any item as urgent 
business, pursuant to Section 100(B)(4)(b) of the Local Government Act, 
1972.

4. DECLARATION OF INTEREST 
The duties to register, disclose and not to participate for the entire 
consideration of the matter, in respect of any matter in which a Member 
has a disclosable pecuniary interest are set out in Chapter 7 of the 
Localism Act 2011.  Members are also required to withdraw from the 
meeting room as stated in the Standing Orders of this Council.

5. NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING 
To note the names of any non-members who wish to address the 
meeting.

6. UPDATE ON COMMITTEE TRAINING 
Verbal update by the Chairman and the Licensing and Business Support 
Manager.

7. FEEDBACK AND DISCUSSION ON RECENT PANEL MEETINGS (IF 
ANY) 

8. CUMULATIVE IMPACT POLICY IN THETFORD 6 - 29
Report of Donna Hall, Licensing & Business Support Manager.

9. NEXT MEETING 
The next meeting will take place on Wednesday, 8 January 2020 in the 
Norfolk Room immediately following the Licensing Committee.



1

BRECKLAND COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

COMMITTEE OF THE LICENSING AUTHORITY

Held on Wednesday, 27 March 2019 at 11.45 am in
Norfolk Room, The Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Dereham

PRESENT
Councillor M. Chapman-Allen 
(Chairman)
Mr K. Martin (Vice-Chairman)
Mr R. F. W. Brame
Mr M. P. Brindle
Mr P. R. W. Darby
Mr R.W. Duffield

Mr K.S. Gilbert
Mrs J. Hollis
Mrs S.M. Matthews
Mrs L.H. Monument
Mr W. R. J. Richmond
Mr F.J. Sharpe

Also Present
Mr R. R. Richmond

In Attendance
Donna Hall - Licensing & Business Support Manager
Josie Hoven - Licensing Officer
Lisa Turner - Assistant Licensing Officer
Julie Britton - Democratic Services Officer

Action 
By

1/19 MINUTES (AGENDA ITEM 1) 

The Minutes of the meeting held on 21 November 2018 were agreed as 
a correct record and signed by the Chairman.

2/19 APOLOGIES (AGENDA ITEM 2) 

An apology for absence was received from Councillor Bowes.

3/19 URGENT BUSINESS (AGENDA ITEM 3) 

None.

4/19 DECLARATION OF INTEREST (AGENDA ITEM 4) 

None.

5/19 NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING (AGENDA 
ITEM 5) 

Councillor Robert Richmond was in attendance to observe the meeting.

6/19 TRAINING REQUIREMENTS (IF ANY) (AGENDA ITEM 6) 

Training had been scheduled to take place following the Elections in 
May 2019.

Public Document Pack

4

Agenda Item 1



Committee of the Licensing Authority
27 March 2019

2

Action 
By

7/19 FEEDBACK AND DISCUSSION ON RECENT PANEL MEETINGS 
(AGENDA ITEM 7) 

Nothing to report.

The meeting closed at 11.50 am

CHAIRMAN

5



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Shared Public Protection Manager 

To: Committee of the Licensing Authority, 13 November 2019

Author: Donna Hall, Licensing and Business Support Manager

Subject: Cumulative Impact Policy 

Purpose: The Committee of the Licensing Authority are to consider the request for a 
Cumulative Impact Policy to be adopted as part of the statutory Statement 
of Licensing policy. The policy is requested to cover Thetford town centre, 
in line with the existing Public Space Protection Order (PSPO)

Recommendations: 

1) That the Committee of the Licensing Authority consider the request for a Cumulative Impact 
Policy under the Licensing Act 2003, for Thetford.

2) That the Committee of the Licensing Authority decide whether to carry out a full public 
consultation on this, and if so identify the locality that the Policy will cover and the activities 
and premises types it will apply to

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 A Cumulative Impact Policy helps to limit the number or types of licence applications 
granted in areas where there is evidence to show that the number or density of licensed 
premises in the area, is having a cumulative impact and leading to problems which are 
undermining the licensing objectives. It creates a rebuttable presumption, meaning that 
applications which receive valid objections are unlikely to be granted, unless the applicant 
can demonstrate that the granting of the application will not further add to the issues 
identified. A Cumulative impact Policy would relate to new and variation applications and 
cannot be used to revoke existing licences.  

1.2 Breckland council’s Statement of Licensing Policy 2015 (which is reviewed every 5 years 
by law) on page 13 sets out the position on adopting a Cumulative Impact Policy. It states: 

Cumulative Impact of a Concentration of Licensed Premises

“Cumulative impact” means the potential impact on the promotion of the licensing 
objectives of a significant number of licensed premises concentrated in one area. The 
cumulative impact of licensed premises on the promotion of the licensing objectives is a 
proper matter for a licensing authority to consider when reviewing its Licensing Policy 
Statement. 

  The Licensing Authority acknowledges that a concentration of licensed premises in a 
particular area can result in an increased number of people walking through or 
congregating in streets during the night with the potential impact of an increase in crime, 
anti-social behaviour, noise pollution and other disturbance to residents, together with an 
increase in littering or fouling. In such cases, the amenity of local residents can be placed 
under severe pressure but this may not be attributable to any individual premises. 

6

Agenda Item 8



The Licensing Authority will only adopt a special policy on cumulative impact if there is 
evidence that a significant number of licensed premises concentrated in one area is 
resulting in unacceptable levels of crime and disorder or public nuisance. The Licensing 
Authority, having regard to the evidence currently available, and being aware of other 
measures that are available to the Local Authority and Police to address such issues, 
considers that there is no particular part of the District causing a cumulative impact on any 
of the licensing objectives. However, the cumulative impact of licensed premises in a 
particular area may, at a future time, on representation from residents, businesses or 
responsible authorities, trigger the consideration of whether any additional licences or 
substantial variations to existing licences, to increase such aspects as capacity or 
operating hours, would lead to an unacceptable saturation in an area. In such cases, the 
Licensing Authority will follow the procedure set out in the Secretary of State’s Guidance 
to determine whether a special policy covering cumulative impact should be incorporated 
in this Statement of Licensing Policy.

1.3 A Cumulative Impact Policy ( CIP) may be published by a licensing authority to help it to 
limit the number or types of licence applications granted in areas where there is evidence to 
show that the number or density of licensed premises in the area is having a cumulative 
impact and leading to problems which are undermining the licensing objectives. The Policy 
would relate to applications for new premises licences and club premises certificates and 
applications to vary existing premises licences and club premises certificates in a specified 
area. 

1.4 The CIP may relate to premises licensed to carry on any licensable activity, including the 
sale of alcohol for consumption on or off the premises, and the provision of late night 
refreshment. This includes late night refreshment providers that are not licensed to sell 
alcohol. A CIP may relate to all premises licences and club premises certificates in the area 
described in the assessment or parts thereof, or only to premises of a particular kind 
described in the assessment. For example, it may be appropriate for the licensing authority 
to only include off-licences or nightclubs within the scope of its assessment. The licensing 
authority must make clear, when publishing its CIP, which premises types it applies to. 
CIPs do not apply to TENs (Temporary Event Notices); however, it is open to the police and 
environmental health authority (as relevant persons) to refer to evidence published within a 
CIP when objecting to a TEN. 

1.5 While the evidence underpinning the publication of a CIP should generally be suitable as 
the basis for a decision to refuse an application or impose conditions, it does not change 
the fundamental way that decisions are made under the 2003 Act. Each decision in an area 
subject to a CIP therefore still needs to be made on a case-by-case basis and with a view 
to what is appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives. Importantly, the 
publication of a CIP would not remove a licensing authority’s discretion to grant applications 
for new licences or applications to vary existing licences, where the authority considers this 
to be appropriate in the light of the individual circumstances of the case.

1.6 Section 5A of the Licensing Act 2003 sets out what a licensing authority needs to do in 
order to publish a CIP and review it, including the requirement to consult with the persons 
listed in section 5(3) of the 2003 Act. The 2003 Act does not stipulate how the CIP should 
be used once published, because the requirements for determining applications for new 
licences or variations are the same in areas with a CIP as they are elsewhere, as set out in 
sections 18, 35, 72 and 85 of the Act. However, any CIP published by a licensing authority 
must be summarised in its statement of licensing policy. Under section 5(6D) a licensing 
authority must also have regard to any CIP it has published when determining or revising its 
statement of licensing policy. 

7



1.7 Steps to publish a CIP:

1) Identify concern about crime and disorder; public safety; public nuisance or 
protection of children from harm in a particular location.

2) Consider whether there is good evidence that crime and disorder or nuisance are 
occurring, or whether there are activities which pose a threat to public safety or the 
protection of children from harm.

3) If there is evidence that such problems are occurring, identify whether these 
problems are being caused by the customers of licensed premises, or that 
cumulative impact is imminent

4) Identify the boundaries of the area where problems are occurring (this can involve 
mapping where the problems occur and identifying specific streets or localities 
where such problems arise)

5) Consult those specified in section 5 (3) of the 2003 Act as listed below. As with 
consultations in respect of the licensing policy statement as a whole, it is for each 
licensing authority to determine the extent of the consultation it should undertake in 
respect of the CIP (subject to the statutory requirements).

a. the chief officer of police for the area;
b. the fire and rescue authority for the area;
c. each local authority’s Director of Public Health in England 
d. persons/bodies representative of local premises licence holders;
e. persons/bodies representative of local club premises certificate

holders;
f. persons/bodies representative of local personal licence holders;
g. persons/bodies representative of businesses and residents in its area

6) For the purposes of the consultation provide the persons specified in section 5(3) 
with the following information: 
- The reasons why it is considering publishing a CIP
- A general indication of the part or parts of its area which it is considering 

describing in the assessment
- Whether it considers the assessment will relate to all premises licence and club 

premises certificate applications and variation applications, or only to those of a 
particular kind described.

7) Subject to the outcome of the consultation, include and publish details of the CIP, 
including the evidence in support of the assessment and the particular kinds of 
premises the assessment relates to. Licensing authorities are not restricted to using 
general terms such as on-trade, off –trade and late night refreshment providers, and 
can apply their own descriptions such as vertical-drinking bars and night clubs if 
appropriate.

8) Summarise the licensing authority’s opinion in light of the evidence of cumulative 
impact (or any revision to an existing opinion) in the licensing policy statement and 
explain within the policy statement how the authority has had regard to any CIPs it 
has published. The summary within the licensing policy statement should include, 
but is not limited to: the nature of the problems identified and the evidence for such 
problems; the geographical extent of the area covered by the assessment; the types 
of premises described in the assessment; and the types of applications for which it 
would be likely be inconsistent with the licensing authority’s duty to promote the 
licensing objectives to grant.

9) After publishing a CIP, the licensing authority must within three years, consider 
whether it remains of the opinion set out in the assessment. In order to do so it must 
again consult the statutory consultees.

1.8  Thetford PSPO

8



1.8.1 The Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 introduced a range of new powers 
designed to address anti-social behaviour including Public Space Protection Orders 
(PSPOs). They are intended to deal with a particular nuisance or problem in a specific area 
that is detrimental to the quality of life to residents, businesses and visitors and are 
persistent and continuing in nature, by imposing conditions on the use of that area which 
apply to everyone. They are designed to ensure the law-abiding majority can use and enjoy 
public spaces, safe from anti-social behaviour.

1.8.2 The Thetford PSPO came into effect on 7th December 2017 for a period of three years and 
relates to all public spaces in Thetford (shown edged red on the attached plan “the 
restricted area”). https://www.breckland.gov.uk/media/7629/Thetford-PSPO-
Map/pdf/THET_03_rev_A.pdf?m=637012079699270000

1.8.3 The PSPO which can be viewed here https://www.breckland.gov.uk/pspothetford, 
applies the following prohibitions:

i) No person shall consume alcohol in any public place, a public place being any place to 
which the public or any section of the public has access on payment or otherwise, as of 
right or by virtue of express or implied permission;

ii) No person shall urinate or defecate in any public place which is not a public 
convenience; and

iii) No person shall ride upon a skateboard, bicycle or other self-propelled wheeled vehicle 
within the designated pedestrianised zone in such a manner as to cause damage to 
property, or nuisance or annoyance to any other person within the designated 
pedestrianised zone.

1.8.4 A public consultation took place between 21st April and 12th May 2017 prior to the PSPO 
being adopted. Feedback in relation to the consumption of alcohol in a public place was as 
follows: 95% of respondents had seen people persistently consuming alcohol in a public 
place; 65% believed this issue had got worse over the last 12 months; 73% stated that they 
had been affected by this issue and 95% agreed that the Council should prohibit this 
activity. 

1.8.5 As outlined in the Cabinet and Full Council reports in July 2017, which led to the decision to 
adopt the PSPO, it was acknowledged that Norfolk Constabulary would accept 
responsibility for enforcement with support by the Council if required. A breach of the Order 
is a criminal offence and can be dealt with through the issuing of a Fixed Penalty Notice of 
up to £100, or a level 3 fine of up to £1000 on prosecution.

1.8.6 Information is contained in the report attached at Appendix A that details actions the police 
have taken in respect of the PSPO. 

1.9 Safer Thetford Action Group (STAG)

1.9.1 STAG have discussed concerns over street drinking and associated anti-social behaviour 
over a number of years at their meetings and with partners. They have pro-actively 
supported initiatives including the introduction of the PSPO, but also consider that the 
Council should adopt a Cumulative Impact Policy.

1.9.2 The group have worked with police to produce evidence of how the cumulative effect of the 
number of licensed premises in Thetford is having an adverse effect on the licensing 
objectives. The attached version of the report at Appendix A contains information that was 
correct at the beginning of September 2019 and provides information about alcohol-related 
crime, ASB, arrests and begging in Thetford over the last 12 months.

9

https://www.breckland.gov.uk/media/7629/Thetford-PSPO-Map/pdf/THET_03_rev_A.pdf?m=637012079699270000
https://www.breckland.gov.uk/media/7629/Thetford-PSPO-Map/pdf/THET_03_rev_A.pdf?m=637012079699270000
https://www.breckland.gov.uk/pspothetford


1.9.3 There are currently 17 premises with licences for alcohol sales to be consumed off the 
premises, in Thetford town centre/PSPO area. These are marked with a * on the map 
attached as Appendix B.

1.10 Other Measures to Control Cumulative Impact

1.10.1 Licensing law is not the primary mechanism to control nuisance and anti-social behaviour 
by individuals once they are away from the licensed premises and beyond the control of the 
licence holder. 

1.10.2 Part 2 of the Council’s Statement of Licensing Policy details the Council’s approach to 
licensing and identifies other ways in which anti-social behaviour away from licensed 
premises can be controlled. For example:

 CCTV
 Police enforcement powers
 PSPO
 Confiscation powers
 Positive measures to create a safe and clean town centre environment

1.10.3 Responsible authorities or any person have the power, regardless of whether a CIP is in 
place, to make an application for the Licensing Authority to review a premises licence 
where they believe it is not upholding one or more of the licensing objectives. 

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 Having considered the request to adopt a CIP, Committee decide to carry out a public 
consultation on having a CIP in Thetford, and in doing so identify the licensable activities, 
location and premises types to be covered. 

2.2 Having considered the request to adopt a CIP, Committee decide not to carry out a public 
consultation at this time but request a further study is undertaken to assess the position 
(14.31 of the Revised Guidance)

2.3 Having considered the request to adopt a CIP, Committee decide to do nothing

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 Committee are required to consider the request from STAG and Norfolk Constabulary to 
determine whether it is proportionate to adopt a CIP in Thetford. 

3.2 The Council does not currently have a CIP, but the council’s own adopted Statement of 
Licensing Policy does state that at any time a review may be triggered for the licensing 
Authority to consider the need for a CIP (see section 1.2 of this report). 

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 Consideration of the CIP is required, as this has been requested by STAG and Norfolk 
police as a further step to tackle issues related to street drinking.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

10



In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Data Protection; 
Equality & Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk 
Management; Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Other. 
Where the report author considers that there may be implications under one or more of 
these headings, these are identified below.

5.1 Constitution & Legal
The legal process to be followed if a CIP is being considered has been identified in this 
report. The introduction of such a policy would require a formal variation to the current 
Statement of Licensing Policy. This would require formal approval from full Council 
following consideration by Cabinet.

5.2 Corporate Priorities
Licensing policy specifically supports the corporate priorities of Your Place and Your Health 
and Wellbeing

5.3 Crime and Disorder 
The report provided in Appendix refers to crime and disorder statistics for the area under 
consideration.

5.4 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights
An equality impact assessment will be carried out if the Committee wish to adopt a CIP 

5.5 Financial 
There will be a small cost to the Council in carrying out a public consultation through 
advertising of the proposed policy, and officer time.

5.6 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales
The report details the approach that would need to be taken in carrying out a consultation, 
including the required consultees.
 

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

Thetford wards

7.0 ACRONYMS 

ASB – Anti-social behaviour
CIA – Cumulative Impact Assessment
CIP – Cumulative Impact Policy
PSPO – Public Space Protection Order
STAG – Safer Thetford Action Group

Background papers:-

Breckland Council Statement of Licensing Policy 
Licensing Act 2003

11



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003
Policing and Crime Act 2017

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Donna Hall, Licensing and Business Support Manager
Telephone Number: 07866 810466
Email: donna.hall@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No 

Exempt Decision: No 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service / 
Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix A STAG Application for Thetford CIP
Appendix B Map of off-licences in Thetford PSPO area

12



Cumulative Impact 
Policy Application

Thetford

29 Aug 19

13



2

INTENTIONALLY BLANK

14



Contents
Summary of Main Issues ...................................................................................................1

Recommendations.............................................................................................................1

Purpose of This Report......................................................................................................1

Background Information ....................................................................................................2

Main Issues .......................................................................................................................2

Associated Issues ..........................................................................................................2-3

Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In .......................................................3

Risk Management..............................................................................................................3

Excerpt from Currrent Council Licensing Policy .............................................................3-4

Conclusions .......................................................................................................................4

Aplication Assumptions .....................................................................................................4

Appendices........................................................................................................................5

Appendix 1 (The Streets covered by the Public Space Protection Order (PSPO)) ....5-6

Appendix 2.1 (SBOS Introduction, Methodology & Process).........................................7

Appendix 2.2 (Begging & Alcohol Related ASB)............................................................8

Appendix 2.3 (Alcohol Related Crimes) . .......................................................................9

Appendix 2.4 (Drunk & Disorderly Arrests) . ...........................................................10-11

Appendix 3 (Environment & Litter Groups) ..................................................................12

15



1

Summary of Main Issues

1. Thetford has in recent years been highlighted as an area of concern due to levels of 

deprivation and an increase in street drinking, antisocial behaviour and an upsurge of 

disorder in the main shopping areas.

2. Thetford is subject to multiple priority points relating to anti-social behavior and 

breaches of terms of the Public Spaces Protection Order. This has recently become 

much more apparent due the Police initiative “Op Dismount”, which has led to an 

increase in the issue of Community Protection Notices (CPN’s), highlighting the true 

scale of the issue.

3. A range of multi-agency partnership groups have met on a number of occasions to 

discuss this matter and a solution suggested would be to implement a cumulative 

impact policy to manage the increase in off licensed premises license applications.

Recommendations 

Members of Licensing Committee are recommended to:

a) Consider if a cumulative impact policy is appropriate for Thetford Public Spaces 

Protection Order area.

b) Understand the scale of irresponsible selling to already intoxicated persons, in single 

can sales packaged in plain plastic bags.

Purpose of This Report

Breckland Council, has a duty to comply with its obligations under section 17 of the Crime 

and Disorder Act 1998, and to promote the Licensing Objectives contained within the 

Licensing Act 2003, namely:

1. The prevention of crime and disorder

2. Public safety 

3. The prevention of public nuisance

4. The protection of children from harm

16



2

Background Information

1. Thetford Town has a Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO) (see appendix 1) in 

place to try and tackle street drinking and anti-social behaviour. 

2. The major concern in relation to Thetford is the street drinking and perception of anti-

social behaviour due to this. 

3. The sale of low cost, high strength lagers and ciders largely contributes to the 

increase of street drinking and antisocial behaviour.

4. The Safer Thetford Action Group and the Anti-Social Behaviour Action Group for 

Breckland have had street drinking, anti-social behaviour and licensing on the 

agenda and made into a priority to improve or resolve. The public forums are held 

prior to the closed meetings predominantly mention the impact of street drinking and 

anti-social behaviour.

5. The town of Thetford is rapidly growing, with the Kings Fleet estate of 5000 houses 

now under construction. Policing is already stretched with the public perception being 

that there is little to no police presence in the town.

6. The police have implemented various measures to improve their response to what 

they believe to be a pernicious problem (evidenced in appendix 2).

Main Issues

1. There are currently 98 licensed premises within Thetford, a high concentration of 

which are in the town centre.

2. Irresponsible selling is on the increase, seeing already highly intoxicated individuals 

being able to purchase more alcohol, in single cans, (so that not more than one item 

is removed by the police).

3. The level of street drinking, and drug/substance misuse related anti-social behaviour 

is increasing (see appendix 2) within the town. 

4. The availability of high strength, cheap beer in single cans is widespread and very 

competitive in the off-sales town centre shops. For example, a single can of 

“Karpackie” which is 9% vol cost as little as £1.25.

Associated Issues

1. The high degree of street dinking which is fed by off sales produces staggering 

amounts of litter, most of which blights the towns waterways and open green spaces 

17



3

(all covered by the PSPO). There have been many initiatives to tackle this problem 

by council, police and volunteer groups and individuals (appendix 

2. Public urination, defecation, swearing and abusive behaviour have become so 

common place that it has become normalised within the town. In general, the public 

are so disillusioned with the 101 call service and the time it takes to respond (if at all) 

they don’t bother. This even leads to reduced 999 calls when drunken individuals are 

fighting due to the misguided perception that drink related ASB is an occupational 

hazard in Thetford (often voiced at open public STAG meetings). This reduces the 

crime statistics, giving a false picture of the town.

Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In

A Cumulative Impact Policy (CIP) is a concept described in the guidance issued under S182 

of the Licensing Act 2003, produced by the Home Office. Although a CIP states that the 

council will refuse license applications, it can only do so if it is appropriate for the promotion 

of the licensing objectives. Therefore, a CIP is backed by statistical evidence provided by the 

Police and the council which shows a direct link between a cumulative impact of licensed 

premises and the licensing objectives. This ensures the CIP is robust to legal challenge.

Excerpt from Current Council Licensing Policy

The council has prepared a policy which must be reviewed every five years or sooner if 

necessary. The purpose of the policy is to set out the approach that the licensing authority 

intends to take when determining applications and carrying out its duties with regard to 

regulation and enforcement. The current Statement of Licensing Policy was approved by Full 

Council December 2015. There is currently no cumulative impact policy in place in the 

Breckland Council area. Last updated: 12/12/2018 15:04:04

The Licensing Authority acknowledges that licensing is not the primary mechanism for the 

general control of nuisance and anti-social behaviour by individuals once they are away from 

licensed premises and beyond the control of those who run those premises.

The following are examples of ways introduced across the District to control such behaviour:

1. The provision of CCTV in town centres.

2. Police enforcement powers to curb disorder and anti-social behaviour including the 
issue of fixed penalty notices. 

18



4

3. Power of local authorities to designate parts of the local authority area as places 
where alcohol may not be consumed publicly.

4. Powers to confiscate alcohol from adults and children in designated areas. 

5. Positive measures to create a safe and clean town centre environment. 

However, the Licensing Authority nonetheless considers that licensing law plays a 
key role in both preventing and controlling alcohol-related crime, antisocial behaviour 
and public nuisance by ensuring that the licensing objectives are promoted through 
well-managed premises and, where appropriate, by regulating the number, location 
and hours of premises.

Application Assumptions

This application is based on the trust that the Licensing Authority truly follows and believes in 

the last statement, particularly, “by regulating the number, location and hours of premises.”

Conclusions 

Thetford town centre is in a relatively deprived area of Breckland and is routinely reported as 

suffering from street drinking and anti-social behaviour both in the mainstream media such 

as newspaper articles and more often on social media. The work already undertaken by the 

multiagency partnership groups would be supported by the introduction of a CIP. Recently 

the police have implemented CPNs in the town to enhance their ability to control the street 

drinking. This has had a marked effect on their workload regarding ASB within the PSPO 

and whilst it has highlighted the problems, it is unlikely that they will be able to maintain that 

focus indefinitely, due to the low police numbers in the town. The amount of volunteer 

groups clearing the detritus left by street drinkers is unprecedented. Finally, public 

confidence in the Police ability to deal with what they see in and around the town centre has 

become very vocal, particularly on social media sites.

19



5

Appendices 
Appendix 1 - The Streets covered by the Public Space 
Protection Order (PSPO)

An area around the Town Centre of Thetford is subject to a Public Spaces Protection Order 

(PSPO). This gives the police and other authorised persons greater powers to tackle anti-

social behaviour in that area, by issuing fixed-penalty notices (on-the-spot fines). The area 

covered is shown on the map below. It includes King Street, Kings House Gardens, Market 

Place, Thetford Riverside, Melford Common, Castle Park, Ford Meadow, Lady Gentle 

Meadow, Butten Island, Thetford Priory, and the eastern half of Abbey Meadows. The 

activities prohibited by the order are:

1. The consumption of alcohol in a public place (except for within licensed premises);

2. Urination and defecation in a public place (except for public toilets);

3. Riding of skateboards, bicycles and other self-propelled wheeled vehicles in an anti-

social manner within the pedestrianised zones.

20

https://thetford.mathmos.net/developments/king-st-square/
https://thetford.mathmos.net/open-space/kings-house-gardens/
https://thetford.mathmos.net/open-space/market-place/
https://thetford.mathmos.net/open-space/market-place/
https://thetford.mathmos.net/developments/riverside/
https://thetford.mathmos.net/open-space/melford-common/
https://thetford.mathmos.net/open-space/castle-park/
https://thetford.mathmos.net/open-space/ford-meadow/
https://thetford.mathmos.net/open-space/lady-gentle-meadow/
https://thetford.mathmos.net/open-space/lady-gentle-meadow/
https://thetford.mathmos.net/open-space/butten-island/
https://thetford.mathmos.net/open-space/thetford-priory/
https://thetford.mathmos.net/open-space/abbey-meadows/


6

Despite the consumption of alcohol being formally banned in the PSPO area, it is only an 

offence to continue consuming it or not to hand it over when requested by an authorised 

person. In other words, you cannot be fined for merely drinking alcohol, only for not stopping 

and handing it over when asked to. With regards to cycling and skateboarding, the only 

offences under the PSPO are for riding "in such a manner as to cause damage to property, 

or nuisance or annoyance to any other person", although other offences may exist under the 

pedestrian zone legislation.

The Thetford Public Spaces Protection Order was made by Breckland District Council with 

advice from Norfolk Police and the Safer Thetford Action Group (STAG), following a public 

consultation. The Order came into force on 7th December 2017. It lasts initially for three 

years but can be renewed after that. The Orders are made under the terms of the Anti-social 

Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014, and replaced the previous "Designated Public 

Place Orders".

The activities prohibited under a Public Spaces Protection Order need to be shown to be 

having detrimental effect on the quality of life of those living, working and visiting the area, 

and be of a persistent or continuing nature. In addition to being enforced by Police Officers, 

the Council making the Order has the power to authorise additional persons to carry out 

enforcement. As of August 2019, no such additional persons have been authorised by 

Breckland District Council, despite the already high workload of the police. 

21

https://thetford.mathmos.net/councils/district/
https://thetford.mathmos.net/amenities/police/


7

Appendix 2.1 (SBOS Introduction, Methodology & Process). 

The following report looks at alcohol-related crime, ASB, arrests, and begging in Thetford over the last 12 
months.

Data was extracted from Storm and Athena, from the period of 01/08/2018 to 20/08/2019.

Alcohol-related ASB data was extracted from Storm by searching for all CADs with a disposal code of ‘ASB’ 
and a qualifier of ‘Alcohol’. Begging CADs were retrieved by pulling ASB data and extracting those with a 
description code of ‘begging’.

Alcohol-related crimes were pulled from Athena by using keywords Alcohol (victim intoxicated) or Alcohol 
(suspect intoxicated).

Custody records were extracted by using a keyword search for “drunk”, “disorderly” and “alcohol”.

This report does not take into account the under reporting of such issues as these are often passed to 
officers when on patrol rather than reported through the various options available to the general public (101, 
999, internet, social media and so on)

The nature of the issues in this report are time consuming for the local SNT and delays our response to 
other community based issued on the area.

As part of the work being carried out in relation to street drinking within the town, support from Change 
Grow Live is also being offered to all of those who are issued ASB Breach Notices to try and help them with 
their addictions.

22



8

Appendix 2.2 (Begging & Alcohol Related ASB).

23



9

Appendix 2.3 (Alcohol Related Crimes).

24



10

Appendix 2.4 (Drunk & Disorderly Arrests).

25



11

Appendix 2.4 (Drunk & Disorderly Arrests continued).

26



12

Appendix 3 (Environment and Litter Groups).

Thetford River Group Report

The group has been clearing the waterways through the town for 7 years, usually once a week but twice 
weekly in the warmer weather. Because we are on the river in a boat we have a good understanding of the 
environmental issues caused by street drinking.
The situation has improved dramatically in that area around Butten Island and The Kiosk 
since the instigation of the PSPO order. Also, the cutting of the shrubs and felling of trees etc. on Butten 
Island has removed the hiding places so there is a reduction in the urination and defecation there. Either 
side of Butten Island the situation remains much the same.
We have had good success working with the Police on preventing sales of the beer to known alcoholics, but 
the number of licensed shops is still far too high for the population in our opinion.  However, At the risk of 
saying what no doubt you have been saying for a long 
time, the visible presence of Police Officers within the town makes such a massive difference to the level of 
bullying and loitering.

Clare Higson and Sean Ready

River Corridor Group Report

The group has been clearing the paths and surrounds of the river corridor on foot for almost 19 years, 
usually every Thursday. We alternate between Nuns Bridge to Butten Island one week, followed by Wilco’s 
car park (including the dreaded road bridge) to the water meadow adjacent to our historic Priory the 
following week. The sheer volume of alcohol related items (cans and bottles) is disturbing but the 
associated human excrement and drugs paraphernalia are ever present. There are simply too many outlets 
for the purchase of cheap alcohol in the town centre which fuel the street drinking. Over the past year since 
the PSPO has come into place the water meadow has had much less drink related litter. However, in this 
time there has also been an increase on individuals who have started collecting the rubbish after seeing 
what continual clearance can do for the appearance of the towns open spaces. When we first formed there 
were vehicles dumped in the river, now we are all working to keep our town clean and tidy. If we can 
prevent the intimidating menace of street drinking, perhaps there will be less rubbish so that we could divert 
our volunteering to the natural wildlife rather than the constant clearance. Moreover, heaven knows what 
the place would look like if all the volunteer groups stopped. 

Digby Smith

Sex, Rock n Roll n Weeding Group Report

We are a voluntary group who aim is to keep Thetford town centre tidy and weed free. We also have a garden 
on Butten Island which we tend close the iconic statue of Duleep Singh. We have been operating for 5 years 
and there are a steady group of 6 of us; we have also had occasional help from the youngsters at NOVA 
Training over the last few months.  The littering problem is depressing and there are bins, but it seems that 
some are unable to use them. The Police and Council do seem keen to do something, but we are always 
dealing with the aftermath of the problem not the cause.

The team

27



13

INTENTIONALLY 
BLANK

28



* premises with licence for off sales of alcohol

29


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	Minutes

	8 Cumulative Impact Policy in Thetford
	Appendix A STAG report
	Appendix B Map


